

Annual Review of Developmental Psychology Interactive Development of Adaptive Learning and Memory

Catherine A. Hartley,^{1,2} Kate Nussenbaum,¹ and Alexandra O. Cohen¹

¹Department of Psychology, New York University, New York, NY 10003, USA; email: cate@nyu.edu

²Center for Neural Science, New York University, New York, NY 10003, USA

Annu. Rev. Dev. Psychol. 2021. 3:59-85

The Annual Review of Developmental Psychology is online at devpsych.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-050620-030227

Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

ANNUAL CONNECT

- www.annualreviews.org
- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

learning, memory, value, cognitive development, neuroscience

Abstract

Across development, interactions between value-based learning and memory processes promote the formation of mental models that enable flexible goal pursuit. Value cues in the environment signal information that may be useful to prioritize in memory; these prioritized memories in turn form the foundation of structured knowledge representations that guide subsequent learning. Critically, neural and cognitive component processes of learning and memory undergo marked shifts from infancy to adulthood, leading to developmental change in the construction of mental models and how they are used to guide goal-directed behavior. This review explores how changes in reciprocal interactions between value-based learning and memory influence adaptive behavior across development and highlights avenues for future research.

59

Contents

INTRODUCTION	60
Value-Based Learning	61
Neural Systems Supporting Value-Based Learning and Memory	62
FORMING ADAPTIVE REPRESENTATIONS IN MEMORY	63
Goal-Directed Encoding	63
Value Signals During Learning	64
Intrinsic Reinforcement During Encoding	65
FROM VALUE DRIVING MEMORY TO MEMORY DRIVING	
VALUE-DIRECTED CHOICE	66
Abstract Mental Models for Flexible Goal Pursuit	66
Developmental Change in Model-Based Choice Behavior	68
Learning and Using Mental Models Across Development	68
CONCLUSIONS: WHAT'S SPECIAL ABOUT DEVELOPMENT	
AND WHAT OPEN QUESTIONS REMAIN?	74
What Is Valued When?	74
Early Explorers	75
Mapping (in) the Developing Brain	75
The Power of Sleep	76
Developmental Change as Continuous Adaptation	76

INTRODUCTION

Throughout our lives, we rapidly acquire knowledge through experience. This knowledge is structured—it reflects regularities in our environments such as sequential relations between events, contingencies between actions and outcomes, and similarities across contexts (Tenenbaum et al. 2011). Across development, we exploit this structure to support the flexible pursuit of valued outcomes. The acquisition of structured mental representations relies centrally on memory processes that enable us to remember the specific events and situations we experience and to extract useful regularities across them. While we often think of memory as a record of the past, this record is selective—our memories, and the mental models that they support, tend to reflect the information that is most likely to be useful for guiding future decisions (Anderson & Schooler 2000, Biderman et al. 2020, Shohamy & Adcock 2010).

Value cues in our environments (e.g., rewarding outcomes or their predictors) signal information that is important to remember (Adcock et al. 2006, Castel et al. 2011). This prioritized information forms the foundation of more abstract representations, which are, in turn, harnessed to guide choice (Behrens et al. 2018, Collins 2018). The representations that are formed in memory and used to guide learning are adaptive when they help us bring about beneficial outcomes. Reciprocal interactions between adaptive learning and memory support goal-directed behavior from infancy through adulthood.

Until recently, memory and value-based learning have largely been studied as separate cognitive processes. However, behavioral and neuroscientific evidence has increasingly indicated that learning and memory function as part of an integrated system (Biderman et al. 2020, Gershman & Daw 2017). A growing body of research in adults has examined how the interactive functioning of value-based learning and memory guide behavior (Bornstein et al. 2017, Jang et al. 2019, Rouhani & Niv 2021, Wimmer & Shohamy 2012). In parallel, developmental studies have revealed marked age-related changes in value computations (Bolenz et al. 2017, Nussenbaum & Hartley 2019), memory processes (Ghetti & Fandakova 2020, Ofen 2012, Shing et al. 2010), and decision-making mechanisms (Jacobs & Klaczynski 2002, Raab & Hartley 2018, Rosenbaum & Hartley 2019), pointing to fundamental shifts in interactions between learning and memory across the life span. Nonetheless, we lack a comprehensive understanding of the changing nature of these interactive processes.

In this review, we provide an overview of change in adaptive learning and memory systems, highlighting their interactive development, and point to areas that warrant further investigation. We begin with a brief introduction to the value-based learning framework. We then provide a high-level overview of the neuroscience of value-based learning and memory in adults, emphasizing both the high degree of overlap in their underlying brain circuits and the pronounced changes that occur within these circuits across development. We review findings that highlight the bidirectional interaction of learning and memory through the lens of development. We illustrate the diverse ways in which value signals serve to prioritize what information is retained in long-term memory, and in turn, how memory representations are used to guide the pursuit of valued outcomes. Throughout, we highlight how changes in underlying computations and cognitive processes may alter the nature of these reciprocal interactions over development.

Value-Based Learning

Convergent theoretical frameworks from the fields of animal behavior (Dickinson 1985), artificial intelligence (Sutton & Barto 1998), and decision neuroscience (Rangel et al. 2008) propose that agents' actions are guided by value signals that arise through interactions with their environments. The value of a stimulus or action can stem from its inherently pleasant or unpleasant properties, as with reinforcers such as food, warmth, or pain. Stimuli can also acquire positive or negative value through association with rewarding or punishing stimuli. Beyond extrinsic physical rewards or punishments, experiences such as knowledge gain, agentic choice, and exposure to novelty may also function as reinforcers, with their reward value derived from intrinsic human motivations to learn about and exert control over the environment (Ryan & Deci 2000).

Insights into how the brain computes value have come from the interdisciplinary study of reinforcement learning (Sutton & Barto 1998). Reinforcement learning models formalize the computations through which the values of stimuli or actions are learned through experience. In these algorithms, a value estimate is updated through an incremental learning process driven by a prediction error (PE), or the degree to which an experienced outcome is better or worse than one's expectations. This error signal is then used to update the value estimate, yielding a corresponding upward or downward revision. Reinforcement learning algorithms can assign value to stimuli or actions in multiple ways: Organisms can learn and store recency-weighted estimates of the average rewards brought about by past actions to determine which behaviors merit repeating in the future (Dickinson 1985, Sutton & Barto 1998); action-value computations can leverage knowledge of the structure of the environment to enable the prospective consideration of which actions are currently most likely to yield desired outcomes (Daw & O'Doherty 2014, Doll et al. 2015); retrieved memories of past instances in which actions have been rewarding can also be used as a basis for future action (Lengyel & Dayan 2008); and stimuli that are reliable predictors of valenced events can acquire positive or negative value (Rescorla 1988), eliciting reflexive behavioral responses (e.g., freezing in anticipation of danger) (LeDoux & Daw 2018). Each of these evaluative processes reflects a different way that the organism might determine which action to select in a given decision context.

Further, evidence from a growing body of developmental research suggests that the diverse computations that underlie the valuation of stimuli or actions undergo marked shifts from infancy to young adulthood (Bolenz et al. 2017, Nussenbaum & Hartley 2019).

Neural Systems Supporting Value-Based Learning and Memory

Historically, lasting memory for different types of learned information has been broadly subdivided into declarative memory for events, supported by the medial temporal lobe (MTL) (Davachi 2006, Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Squire 2004), and nondeclarative, implicit memory, supported by several different neural systems (Squire & Dede 2015, Winograd 1975). Nondeclarative memory is often further subdivided into procedural memory, priming, classical conditioning, and nonassociative habituation or sensitization, with these distinct forms of learning supported by circuitry centered around the striatum, the neocortex, the amygdala, and reflexive pathways, respectively (Cohen & Squire 1980, Mishkin et al. 1984, Tulving & Schacter 1990). Despite this historical focus on cognitive and neural dissociations within learning and memory, recent research in adults points to a more integrated system (Biderman et al. 2020, Gershman & Daw 2017). The learning processes engaged in forming long-term memories for useful information, as well as those involved in assigning value to stimuli and guiding adaptive action, all depend on coordinated interaction across the brain systems dissociated within this historical framework. Below, we present evidence highlighting the overlapping and integrated nature of the neural systems involved in these adaptive learning and memory processes.

A large neuroscientific literature in the past two decades has begun to characterize the neural circuitry involved in value-based learning (Balleine & O'Doherty 2009, Daw & O'Doherty 2014). Studies across species have demonstrated that the activity of dopamine neurons corresponds closely to the reward PE signal within these models (Glimcher 2011, Schultz et al. 1997). Computational analyses of human functional magnetic resonance imaging data also suggest a central role for the dopaminergic system in value computation (Bartra et al. 2013). These studies commonly observe that activation within the ventral striatum, a brain region densely innervated by dopaminergic neurons, correlates with reward PE signals, whereas activation within the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC), a region with reciprocal projections to and from the striatum (Haber & Knutson 2009), correlates with subjective value estimates (Bartra et al. 2013). Interactions between the amygdala, ventral striatum, and prefrontal cortex (PFC) support the assignment of positive or negative value to environmental stimuli (Cardinal et al. 2002, LeDoux & Daw 2018). A broader neural circuitry is implicated in the computation of action values (Balleine & O'Doherty 2009), with greater engagement of the hippocampus and orbitofrontal cortex (OFC)-regions proposed to encode information about the relational structure of the environment (Behrens et al. 2018, Wilson et al. 2014b)-typically observed when such structured knowledge is recruited in service of goal-directed action (Balleine & O'Doherty 2009).

Cross-species evidence has shown that the MTL plays a crucial role in general memory formation processes that also support the storage of valuable information (Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Squire 2004). In humans, cortical MTL areas, including the perirhinal and parahippocampal cortices, are thought to relay information about items and context to the hippocampus (Davachi 2006). The hippocampus has been widely implicated in encoding memories and in binding item and context information to create episodic memories (Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Squire 2004). Paralleling the crucial role of the dopaminergic system in value-based learning, studies carried out in adult rodents have demonstrated that dopamine-dependent plasticity in the hippocampus is critical for memory formation (Lisman & Grace 2005). Additionally, research in humans and rodents suggests that memory for affectively salient or rewarding information can involve interactions between the amygdala, dopaminergic midbrain, and hippocampus (Adcock et al. 2006, McGaugh et al. 1996, Yonelinas & Ritchey 2015). Memories are thought to initially be stored in neural ensembles within the hippocampus (Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Squire 2004). Although there is evidence that memory representations in the hippocampus persist (Nadel et al. 2000, Yonelinas et al. 2019), systems consolidation theories posit that over time, memories are also supported by distributed representations across cortical brain areas (Simons & Spiers 2003, Tonegawa et al. 2018). These distributed representations are thought to stabilize long-term memories and facilitate their use to guide future behavior (Rissman & Wagner 2012).

Using memories to guide action relies not only on memories for specific events but also on the extraction and accumulation of information across different events. The vmPFC and OFC have been specifically implicated in memory generalization processes and the formation of schemas (Gilboa & Marlatte 2017, Tse et al. 2007, Zeithamova & Bowman 2020). Consistent with systems consolidation theories that propose cortical representations of generalized knowledge, several studies suggest that individuals with hippocampal damage are able to perform generalization tasks (Knowlton & Squire 1993, O'Connell et al. 2016). However, recent work suggests that the hippocampus itself can support memory abstraction and generalization (Mack et al. 2018, Zeithamova & Bowman 2020). Thus, there may be multiple mechanisms for generalizing across experiences that rely on different brain systems.

Models of neurobiological development suggest that there are asymmetries in the developmental trajectories of the subcortical and cortical brain systems centrally implicated in adaptive learning and memory and posit that information exchange between these brain systems exhibits continued changes throughout adolescence (Casey et al. 2019, Murty et al. 2016). The hippocampus and PFC, in particular, undergo protracted structural and functional development into and throughout adolescence (Calabro et al. 2019; Gogtay et al. 2004, 2006; Lee et al. 2014a; Sowell et al. 2004). The continued maturation of these neural systems suggests that there may be corresponding, dynamic changes in adaptive learning and memory processes across development.

FORMING ADAPTIVE REPRESENTATIONS IN MEMORY

The ubiquity of new experiences and opportunities for learning during development raises an important question about the function of adaptive memory systems: What should be prioritized in memory? Memory representations are adaptive if they prioritize information that is likely to be useful for making future decisions. The structure of our environments, including the reward statistics involved in value computations, may influence memory formation by signaling information that is useful to remember. For example, we might remember a new lunch spot with exceptionally tasty—or exceptionally terrible—food. Additionally, frequently needed and goal-relevant information may also be prioritized. For example, we may preferentially encode the name of a person we often bump into or the central concepts we think will help us ace a test in school. In this section, we discuss factors that can lead us to prioritize information in memory and existing evidence for how memory prioritization changes over the course of development.

Goal-Directed Encoding

Knowing ahead of time that information will be useful to remember can help us prioritize it in memory. A number of studies conducted in adults have demonstrated that information that is incentivized or might be useful for earning rewards in the future is more readily encoded (Shohamy & Adcock 2010). This form of goal-directed encoding is thought to be driven by top-down attentional and cognitive control mechanisms involving prefrontal and parietal cortical systems that undergo protracted development throughout childhood and adolescence (Blumenfeld & Ranganath 2007, Cabeza et al. 2008, Gogtay et al. 2004, Mills et al. 2016). Behavioral evidence

aligns with this neurobiological account. Recall for incentivized information has been found to improve across childhood and adolescence (Hanten et al. 2007). Additionally, adults show more selective memory for high-value information relative to children and adolescents (Castel et al. 2011). Thus, the ability to intentionally prioritize high-value information in memory seems to improve with increasing age.

Explicit cues signaling the value of remembering information that are typically included in experimental tasks are not often present in the real-world environments in which we encode new information in our daily lives. However, the future utility of information may be signaled by statistical regularities in the environment (Anderson & Schooler 2000). For example, information that is encountered more frequently may be more important to remember (Anderson & Schooler 1991). Recent work with individuals ages 7 to 25 years old indicates that the ability to prioritize information in memory based on the relative frequency with which information can be used to gain later rewards improves with age (Nussenbaum et al. 2020a). Moreover, this ability was related to explicit knowledge about the statistics of the environment. Furthermore, memory prioritization based on learned value signals was associated with increased activity in the striatum and PFC, which have been implicated in value-based learning and cognitive control processes. Consistent with theoretical accounts of motivated memory encoding (Shohamy & Adcock 2010), activity in the PFC, but not the striatum, mediated the relation between age and value-based memory selectivity (Nussenbaum & Hartley 2021). Taken together, these results suggest that continued development of prefrontal cortical systems contributes to age-related changes in goal-directed encoding.

In addition to attention and cognitive control, another cognitive process that is likely critical for the intentional prioritization of information in memory is metacognition (Metcalfe 2017). Specifically, metamemory monitoring, or the ability to reflect on one's own memory accuracy, may contribute to reliable deployment of attentional and cognitive control mechanisms that facilitate motivated memory (Ghetti & Fandakova 2020). Metamemory monitoring has been shown to improve across childhood and into adolescence. Improvements in this ability were related to increased thickness in the vmPFC and cortical thinning in the anterior insula, providing further evidence for the crucial role of cortical brain areas implicated in higher-order cognition in supporting strategic memory (Fandakova et al. 2017). Still, more research is needed to map the developmental trajectories of different forms of goal-directed encoding and their underlying neural mechanisms.

Value Signals During Learning

Events associated with positive and negative outcomes are often prioritized in memory. Multiple memory systems accounts suggest that emotional learning and memory systems, centered around the amygdala, are functional early in development (Hartley & Lee 2015, Stanton 2000). Indeed, children as young as 4 years old have shown enhanced memory specificity for items presented alongside positive and negative outcomes relative to those studied under neutral conditions (Ngo et al. 2019b). Adolescents have also demonstrated episodic memory enhancements, similar to those of adults, for items associated with aversive relative to neutral outcomes (Cohen et al. 2019). Thus, valenced outcomes can lead to the prioritization of events in memory across development.

The computations involved in learning to predict valued outcomes can also signal what information may be useful to remember. Experiences that are better or worse than we expect generate PEs. While the role of PEs in updating value estimates has been well characterized (Daw & O'Doherty 2014, Glimcher 2011, Schultz et al. 1997), the influence of PEs on memory formation is less well understood. Dopamine release associated with reward PEs may modulate memory due to dopamine-dependent plasticity in the hippocampus (Lisman & Grace 2005). In

line with this possible memory prioritization mechanism, research in adults suggests that PEs can modulate subsequent memory for events encountered during learning. However, studies have found varying associations between PEs and memory, observing heterogeneous effects of PE valence and magnitude (Jang et al. 2019, Rouhani & Niv 2021).

Emerging evidence suggests that developmental change in value-learning mechanisms may influence what information is prioritized in memory. One study revealed that adolescents showed better reinforcement learning and memory for events associated with large, positive PEs relative to adults (Davidow et al. 2016). Adolescents showed PE-related activity in both the striatum and the hippocampus, as well as an association between hippocampal-striatal connectivity and enhanced memory for positively reinforced events. In line with prior research demonstrating heightened sensitivity to rewards during adolescence (Doremus-Fitzwater & Spear 2016, Galván 2013), these results suggest that hippocampal and striatal learning and memory systems may be uniquely tuned to respond to large, unexpectedly rewarding events during adolescence. Moreover, as past studies suggest that reinforcement learning also changes across development (Bolenz et al. 2017, Nussenbaum & Hartley 2019), shifts in both learning computations and the effects of these computations on subsequent memory may give rise to different patterns of memory prioritization across age.

Individual differences in sensitivity to positive and negative outcomes may also contribute to the heterogeneity in findings that link learning signals to memory. For example, individuals who place greater weight on negative outcomes in their value computations may prioritize negative events in memory, while those who are more sensitive to positive information may prioritize positive events in memory. Recent work examining reinforcement learning and subsequent memory for stimuli associated with valenced outcomes in individuals ages 8 to 27 years old suggests that this indeed might be the case (Rosenbaum et al. 2020). Across all ages, individuals who showed negative valence biases during learning demonstrated better memory for worsethan-expected outcomes and those who showed positive valence biases demonstrated better memory for better-than-expected outcomes. Accounting for individual differences in sensitivity to valenced outcomes may be key to understanding the cognitive and neural mechanisms that underlie the influence of value-learning signals on memory prioritization across age.

Intrinsic Reinforcement During Encoding

Value signals that drive memory prioritization are not solely derived from external sources but can also come from intrinsic goals and motivations such as the drives to learn about or exert control over our environments. For example, interest in a topic has been shown to facilitate word learning in young children (Ackermann et al. 2020). In addition, curiosity has been shown to enhance memory for answers to trivia questions in children, adolescents (Fandakova & Gruber 2021), and adults (Gruber et al. 2014). Paralleling previous research examining reward PEs, one study found that finding trivia answers more interesting than expected also enhanced memory, an effect that was stronger in adolescents than in children (Fandakova & Gruber 2021). Different age-related patterns in the influence of curiosity versus curiosity PEs on memory may arise from differences in the timing of these motivational signals—while interest in a question precedes to-be-remembered information, surprise over unexpectedly interesting answers co-occurs with its presentation.

The opportunity to actively control our environments also influences the information that is prioritized in memory. Opportunities to explore and make choices about what information to learn have been shown to result in improved memory for experiences in childhood and adulthood (Feldman & Acredolo 1979, Gureckis & Markant 2012, McComas et al. 1997). Fewer studies have focused on how the influence of active control on memory changes with age. In one study, children, adolescents, and adults all demonstrated similar memory benefits for information presented

at the time of choice outcomes when they had the opportunity to make consequential decisions (Katzman & Hartley 2020). In another study, the memory benefit that stemmed from active decisions about what memoranda to study increased from early to late childhood (Ruggeri et al. 2019). Differences in individuals' goals when exerting active control (e.g., seeking reward versus remembering information) as well as the opportunities they have to adjust mnemonic strategies accordingly (e.g., allocating more study time to certain memoranda) may modulate patterns of age-related change in the memory benefits of intrinsic motivation.

Learning about or exerting control over our environments has been proposed to be intrinsically rewarding (DuBrow et al. 2019, Leotti & Delgado 2011). Research in adults has shown that neural mechanisms underlying the influence of curiosity and control on memory overlap with those associated with reward-motivated memory. Increased activity in the nucleus accumbens and ventral tegmental area/substantia nigra and connectivity with the hippocampus during anticipatory states of curiosity have been associated with curiosity-related memory enhancements (Gruber et al. 2014). High anticipatory activity in the striatum and increased striatal-hippocampal connectivity have also been associated with choice-related memory enhancements (Murty et al. 2015). These results suggest that curiosity and control over choices may both act as reward signals that can modulate memory formation across development. However, further research on the neurocognitive mechanisms underlying effects of intrinsic motivation on subsequent memory across development is needed.

FROM VALUE DRIVING MEMORY TO MEMORY DRIVING VALUE-DIRECTED CHOICE

Relations between value and memory are bidirectional; while value signals in our environments influence the information we encode in memory, memories inform how we learn from and pursue valued outcomes (Biderman et al. 2020, Gershman & Daw 2017). By integrating and generalizing across memories of distinct episodes, we begin to form schematic knowledge of the structure of our environments (McClelland et al. 1995). With time and the accumulation of experience, episodes comprise and become situated within abstract, relational structures. For example, mental models of traffic patterns emerge from memories of past commutes to work; representations of workplace hierarchy stem from individual social interactions with colleagues; and knowledge of which parent is more likely to allow an additional hour of video games is built upon multiple, distinct episodes with positive or negative outcomes. As with the influence of value signals on memory prioritization, developmental change in the computations that govern the transformation of past experience into schematic knowledge may give rise to variation in the mental representations that are formed across age. These abstract representations can be used to guide learning across diverse contexts, enabling, for example, the driver to time their commute more optimally or the child to successfully elicit permission from the more lenient parent. In this way, the prioritization of information in memory determines not just what we are able to recall but also how the mental models that enable value-guided action are constructed. Ultimately, interactions between learning and memory guide the choices that individuals make when navigating their environments.

Below, we present an overview of the varied types of environmental regularities that are represented in mental models and used to guide behavior. We briefly discuss findings from the adult literature that provide evidence for the existence of these complex mental representations before delving into the emerging literature on developmental change in model-based behavior.

Abstract Mental Models for Flexible Goal Pursuit

Many learning environments have structural regularities (e.g., hierarchical rules, periodicities in latent states) that can be discovered and exploited to facilitate performance (Collins 2018,

Tenenbaum et al. 2011). When higher-order rules govern reward contingencies, acquiring knowledge of these rules enables rapid learning of the optimal action (i.e., learning to learn). For example, in Harlow's (1949) canonical studies of learning sets, a rule that one of two objects, irrespective of its location, is the correct response in each learning epoch can be inferred and applied to rapidly achieve error-free performance in subsequent epochs. In serial reversal learning tasks, knowledge that reward contingencies occasionally reverse can facilitate rapid adaptation after an inferred switch. Abstract relational knowledge acquired at a remote time point, even in the absence of a specific goal, can later be marshalled to inform goal-directed action (e.g., using knowledge of the roads in a city to plan a new route to a desired destination when the usual route is blocked)—a phenomenon referred to as latent learning (Tolman 1948). More generally, schemas that reflect commonalities inferred across many past experiences (e.g., the necessary steps involved in ordering food in a restaurant or crossing the street safely) can be readily generalized to provide cognitive models for action in new contexts.

A rich array of memory representations supports our ability to flexibly pursue our goals. Within the field of animal learning, a goal-directed action is defined by two key properties—it is performed with an expectation about its likely causal effect, and the expected effect is one that is currently valued (Balleine & O'Doherty 2009, Dickinson 1985). Thus, goal-directed behavior depends on structured knowledge about the relations between environmental states and actions. Convergent behavioral and neuroscientific findings provide evidence that organisms form internal models or cognitive maps (Tolman 1948) comprising rich relational knowledge about a current task including learned action-outcome contingencies, sequential relations between events, inferred latent states, and specific sensory properties of outcomes (Behrens et al. 2018, Wilson et al. 2014b). Knowledge about the structure of the environment can be acquired through direct experience or observation, as well as through explicit communication, which adults are readily able to convert into useful task representations (Cole et al. 2013). Once acquired, structured knowledge representations enable greater flexibility in value-guided action.

Cognitive maps can be used to plan multistep actions, evaluate their probable consequences, and determine which choices are most likely to be rewarded. Within the field of reinforcement learning (Sutton & Barto 1998), this type of forward planning is formalized by model-based evaluation algorithms, which use a representation of the transition probabilities between states and actions (the model) to prospectively assign value to a potential action by determining its likely consequences. In contrast, model-free evaluation algorithms compute cached action value estimates based on directly experienced previous rewards, fostering more automatic, but less flexible, reward-guided behavior. The utility of model-based evaluation is most apparent in situations where action-outcome contingencies or the value of specific outcomes change—for example, when a bus route unexpectedly changes. A model-free evaluation process, which only maintains a summary statistic of how good or bad an action is, cannot rapidly adapt its stored action values, yielding perseverative errors. In contrast, by revising a mental model to reflect such changes in transition probabilities or outcome values, this updated representation can be used to plan alternative courses of action.

Sequential decision-making tasks can be used to differentiate the degree to which individuals' choices are better captured by model-free or model-based evaluative processes. In the widely used two-step task (Daw et al. 2011), participants first make a choice between two stimuli, each of which is followed by a probabilistic common or rare transition to one of two second-stage states. In each second-stage state, two choice options each yield rewards with slowly changing probabilities. Whereas model-free learners tend to repeat previously rewarded first-stage choices, model-based learners use knowledge of the task transition structure to navigate to states that they expect to be rewarding. Studies in adults have found that participants who show model-based choice behavior

also typically exhibit slower response times following rare versus common transitions (Deserno et al. 2015), consistent with the notion that these rare transitions violate learned expectancies.

In recent years, there has been a surge of interest in providing formal characterization of the formation and use of map-like representations in the brain in adults. In parallel, observations of differences in goal-directed behavior across development have inspired a burgeoning literature that has aimed to characterize age-related changes in the mental representations and decision algorithms that account for these age-related shifts.

Developmental Change in Model-Based Choice Behavior

The use of mental models to support goal-directed behavior is evident in infants and young children. Infants can acquire abstract and hierarchical rules and apply them to novel contexts (Frank et al. 2009, Schonberg et al. 2018, Werchan et al. 2016). Young children can similarly learn to learn, forming response rules that they can apply to novel learning epochs (Harlow 1949). Despite the early emergence of model-based behavior, the use of mental models to guide learning and action selection undergoes pronounced shifts from infancy to adulthood.

Relative to adults, children may rely on less complex mental representations to guide learning and decision-making. Studies have generally observed age-related increases in the influence of task structure knowledge on action selection, with the specific developmental trajectory of this increase depending on the complexity of the task. In one study, for example, young children (1-2 years old) exhibited insensitivity to outcome devaluation, such that they continued to perform previously rewarded actions-pressing a button that makes a video clip play-even when the video was devalued through repeated exposure (Klossek et al. 2008). By age 2.5 children appeared to use their knowledge that the button press would lead to an undesired outcome to select alternative actions. The ability to harness a mental model of the relation between actions, states, and outcomes continues to develop through adolescence. In the two-step task, the use of a model-based learning strategy that exploits knowledge of the task's transition structure increases from middle childhood to early adulthood (Decker et al. 2016, Nussenbaum et al. 2020b, Potter et al. 2017). Moreover, adults harness structural knowledge beyond state transitions-they use mental models of the causal structure of the environment to rationally discount experienced outcomes that they did not cause (Dorfman et al. 2019), they consider environmental reward contingencies to learn from counterfactual information (Palminteri et al. 2016), and they rely on instructions or advice to rapidly construct cognitive maps that bias how they learn from experienced outcomes (Decker et al. 2015, Rodriguez Buritica et al. 2019). In all these cases, the influence of structural knowledge on choice behavior increases with age. Relative to those of adults, children's choices are less influenced by causal knowledge (Cohen et al. 2020), counterfactual reasoning (Palminteri et al. 2016), and instructions or advice (Decker et al. 2015, Rodriguez Buritica et al. 2019).

Learning and Using Mental Models Across Development

The successful recruitment of mental models to guide choice behavior requires both the formation of an integrated mental representation of a task's structure and the ability to use that representation to guide action. Extensive cognitive developmental research suggests that both components of model-based learning undergo marked shifts across childhood and adolescence. Here, we unpack these varied neurocognitive mechanisms, starting with those that support the transformation of individual episodes into integrated cognitive maps, before moving on to those that enable the proactive and flexible recruitment of those maps during decision-making. Specifically, we review developmental research on statistical learning, generalization, and integration mechanisms that

support learning environmental structure and transforming experienced episodes into integrated representations that support value-based decisions. We then examine how working memory, cognitive control, and prospection support the use of these representations to guide action.

Extracting environmental regularities from experience. Across the lifespan, multiple cognitive processes enable individuals to acquire knowledge of the structure of the environment from experience. These processes are supported by a diverse set of neural mechanisms that exhibit distinct trajectories of developmental change.

Statistical learning. From an early age, statistical learning mechanisms promote the acquisition of structured knowledge. Infants display sensitivity to the statistical properties of auditory and visual information, enabling them to parse streams of input into more structured representations (Saffran & Kirkham 2018). Young infants can identify co-occurring syllables embedded within streams of speech sounds (Saffran et al. 1996) and extract ordered sequences of shapes from streams of visual input (Kirkham et al. 2002). These implicit learning mechanisms persist through childhood and remain robust into adulthood, supporting learning across the life span (Amso & Davidow 2012, Meulemans et al. 1998). Further, growing evidence suggests that sensitivity to statistical regularities may improve through childhood and into early adolescence (Schlichting et al. 2017, Shufaniya & Arnon 2018).

Early sensitivity to statistical regularities may serve as a crucial building block for subsequent knowledge formation. While an extensive literature has demonstrated the role of statistical learning in language acquisition (Saffran & Kirkham 2018), the ability to detect patterns of environmental input supports the formation of diverse mental representations, including categories (Younger & Cohen 1986), and causal knowledge (Kushnir & Gopnik 2005). Statistical learning may also promote the construction of mental models through facilitating associative inference (Rmus et al. 2019). In one study, individuals' ability to extract co-occurring triplets from a stream of novel shapes was related to their performance in a separate inference task (Schlichting et al. 2017). Notably, while both individuals' explicit recognition of learned triplets and their inference accuracy improved from childhood to adulthood, performance on the two tasks was correlated even when controlling for age, suggesting that they may be supported by related mechanisms.

Knowledge of the statistics of the environment has also been directly linked to the formation and use of mental models to guide adaptive decision-making. In one study, participants between the ages of 9 and 25 years old completed the two-step task and a separate assay of statistical learning. Both statistical learning and model-based learning increased with age, and individuals with stronger statistical learning abilities also showed increased recruitment of a model-based learning strategy in the two-step task (Potter et al. 2017). Further, statistical learning ability predicted the extent to which individuals demonstrated slower reaction times following rare versus common first-stage transitions, suggesting that individuals who were better at statistical learning also more strongly encoded the task's transition structure.

Statistical learning is supported by a wide network of neural regions, including inferior frontal and superior temporal cortices, as well as the basal ganglia (Finn et al. 2019, Karuza et al. 2013, Schapiro et al. 2013). Although the vast majority of research on the neural mechanisms of statistical learning has been conducted in adults, a few studies of school-aged children have found involvement of similar neural regions during statistical learning tasks. When listening to streams of syllables that contained statistical regularities, children demonstrated increased activity in both the temporal and inferior frontal cortex (McNealy et al. 2010). Further, children who were more sensitive to statistical regularities—as evidenced by stronger increases in superior temporal gyrus activity during structured versus random streams of syllables—were also more successful in extracting novel words (McNealy et al. 2010). In childhood, inferior frontal cortex thickness was associated with better statistical learning ability (Finn et al. 2019), suggesting that structural changes in the frontal cortex may support developmental improvements in statistical learning.

Although traditionally associated with declarative memory, the hippocampus can rapidly represent items within their temporal context and may also play an important role in statistical learning (Schapiro et al. 2014). While the hippocampus may support statistical learning beginning in infancy (Ellis et al. 2021), recent neuroimaging work suggests that the hippocampus undergoes pronounced changes from childhood to adulthood (DeMaster et al. 2014, Riggins et al. 2016). Changes in hippocampal structure and function may contribute to changes in statistical learning across development (Finn et al. 2019, Schlichting et al. 2017). Decreases in hippocampal head volume from childhood to adulthood—potentially reflecting pruning of unneeded connections may support developmental improvements in statistical learning (Schlichting et al. 2017). Taken together, prior work suggests that developmental change in prefrontal and medial temporal regions supports improvements in the ability to recognize and extract the environmental regularities essential to the construction of mental models.

Transformation of implicit to explicit knowledge. The flexible use of mental models to guide decision-making may require the transformation of implicitly learned statistical regularities into explicit representations of environmental structure (Dienes & Perner 1999). Young children's behavior often reveals a dissociation between these two forms of knowledge-across different domains, children show signs of implicit knowledge before they are able to represent it explicitly or use it to guide behavior (Goldin-Meadow et al. 1993, Karmiloff-Smith 1992). For example, in a balancing blocks task, young children often try to balance blocks on their geometric center prior to being able to explicitly vocalize their balancing strategy (Pine & Messer 2003). Similarly, young children often demonstrate the correct use of relative or possessive pronouns prior to being able to articulate the grammatical rules that guide their behavior (Karmiloff-Smith 1992), suggesting that they have acquired knowledge of key properties of their environment but not yet transformed that knowledge into a model that can be accessed explicitly. These developmental progressions suggest that early sensitivity to the statistical structure of the environment may set the stage for, but not fully enable, the formation of the cognitive maps that support decision-making. Implicitly learned regularities may require further mental transformation to effectively promote flexible, goal-directed action.

While there is mixed evidence for age-related change in implicit learning (Meulemans et al. 1998, Schlichting et al. 2017, Shufaniya & Arnon 2018), there may be more pronounced agerelated shifts in the ability to represent learned statistics explicitly (Finn et al. 2016). For example, whereas 10-year-olds perform comparably to adults on probabilistic prediction tasks and artificial grammar learning, they perform significantly worse on explicit tests of declarative memory (Finn et al. 2016).

Generalization. The construction of mental models may also involve abstraction—the extraction of general patterns across diverse episodes or experiences. A recent theoretical proposal suggests that development may be marked by a shift from more abstract to more specific representations, leading to bigger gains in general, schematic knowledge earlier in life, when it may be most critical to construct general-purpose cognitive maps (Keresztes et al. 2018, Ramsaran et al. 2019). Relative to adults, children tend to perform poorly on lab-based tasks of mnemonic discrimination (Ngo et al. 2018, 2019a; Rollins & Cloude 2018). Children's encoding of episodes with less specificity may facilitate the extraction of commonalities across them, promoting abstraction.

Constraints on memory specificity early in life are mirrored by a similar bias in value-based learning. In several developmental studies of aversive conditioning, increases in age were associated with improvements in the discrimination of threat and safety signals, and relative to adolescents and adults, younger children tend to show broader generalization of threat responses to novel stimuli (Glenn et al. 2012, Schiele et al. 2016). This shift from generality to specificity may arise in part due to different developmental trajectories of pattern separation and pattern completion processes in the hippocampus (Keresztes et al. 2018). Through pattern separation, the hippocampus represents overlapping inputs as more distinct, supporting mnemonic discrimination, whereas through pattern completion, the hippocampus reinstates overlapping representations, promoting integration and generalization (Hunsaker & Kesner 2013, Yassa & Stark 2011). An early developmental bias toward pattern completion may thus promote generalization at the expense of the encoding and retrieval of highly detailed memories (Keresztes et al. 2018).

Structural changes in the hippocampus across development may promote the formation of increasingly detailed memories. Different hippocampal subregions continue to mature through late childhood and early adolescence; the hippocampal head decreases in volume in late childhood while the body increases (DeMaster et al. 2014, Lee et al. 2014a, Riggins et al. 2018). These structural changes have been linked to improvements in detailed memory into adolescence (Keresztes et al. 2017). Changes in hippocampal computations may also promote improvements in detailed memory across development. A recent study (Callaghan et al. 2020) found that the distinctiveness of activity patterns within the posterior hippocampus increased across childhood and adolescence and was related to enhanced detailed associative memory after a two-week delay. Still, although mounting evidence points to the formation of more detailed memories with increasing age, it is unclear if these improvements coincide with a developmental shift away from integration and generalization.

Complementary learning systems theory posits that rapid pattern separation processes in the hippocampus enable distinctive representations of specific experiences, while slower neocortical learning processes extract repeated patterns across experiences to promote the acquisition of general, schematic knowledge (McClelland et al. 1995). While some findings suggest that detailed memories and schematic knowledge may compete for expression (Richards et al. 2014), other research suggests that detailed memories support generalization (Tompary et al. 2020). Further work is needed to examine the development of the neurocognitive mechanisms that support the extraction of mental models from more detailed memories of individual experiences.

Integration. While extracting general patterns across disparate memories can promote the formation of general knowledge, existing knowledge itself can facilitate the formation of new memories. Prior knowledge may enhance memory for schema-congruent information by facilitating the formation of richer and more elaborate memory traces (Bransford & Johnson 1972, Craik & Tulving 1975). For example, in one study, both children and adults demonstrated better memory for a tractor paired with a farm than for a tractor paired with an ocean (Brod & Shing 2019). In another study, both child and adult chess experts demonstrated better memory for meaningful chess piece positions relative to random arrangements (Schneider et al. 1993). Interactions between the hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) may support the use of prior knowledge to guide encoding of new information. Specifically, the hippocampus may represent novel information while the mPFC may exert a top-down influence on hippocampal representations, competitively inhibiting the individuated representation of prior schematic knowledge (van Kesteren et al. 2012).

The effects of prior knowledge on the encoding and retrieval of new information may change across development, both because prior knowledge itself is in a constant state of flux and because the neurocognitive mechanisms that support schematic integration may themselves change with age and experience (Brod et al. 2013). Several studies have found that relative to adults, children demonstrate weaker memory benefits from semantic congruency (Ghatala et al. 1980, Maril et al. 2011, Stangor & McMillan 1992). This age-related increase in the influence of congruency on memory may arise because adults tend to use more elaborative, semantic encoding strategies relative to children (Brod et al. 2013, Maril et al. 2011). In line with this suggestion, Maril et al. (2011) found that during encoding of word-color combinations, children recruited neural regions more associated with perceptual processing, including the occipital cortex, whereas adults tended to recruit lateral prefrontal regions involved in semantic processing.

A more recent study (Brod et al. 2017) used novel stimuli to control for developmental differences in the strength of prior knowledge. Here, children between the ages of 8 and 12 years demonstrated comparable effects of prior knowledge on encoding relative to young adults, suggesting that age-related change observed in prior studies may in part be due to developmental change in the strength of existing schematic associations. Despite comparable memory performance across age groups, Brod et al. (2017) found that children and adults demonstrated different patterns of neural activity during encoding, such that adults, but not children, more strongly recruited the mPFC when encoding congruent events that were subsequently remembered versus not remembered. Further, the involvement of the mPFC during successful retrieval of congruent events also increased with age. Taken together, prior work suggests that age-related change both in the content of prior knowledge and in the prefrontal mechanisms that support its use contributes to increases in the influence of existing schematic representations on memory across development.

Using mental models to guide decisions. Beyond developmental change in the processes that support the formation of mental models, changes in action selection policies may also stem from differences in the way that mental representations of task structure are used (but see Munakata 2001). For example, in the classic A-not-B task, an experimenter repeatedly hides a toy in location A before switching to hiding it in location B. Infants often reach for location A but look toward location B, indicating that while they have an intact mental representation of the toy's true hiding spot, this representation is not being used to guide their actions (Diamond 1985). Similarly, when preschool-aged children are tasked with sorting cards according to changing rules, they often persist in sorting cards by a previous rule (e.g., by shape) despite being able to explicitly verbalize the rule they should be using (e.g., by color) (Zelazo et al. 1996). With increasing age, young children show increasing competence in using rule representations to guide behavior (Zelazo et al. 1996). The dissociation between knowledge and its use to guide learning persists throughout late childhood and adolescence, particularly as the complexity of the learning environment increases. Relative to adults, children demonstrate decreased use of a model-based decision strategy in the two-step task, but their explicit reports of the task's transition probabilities are equally accurate, and they similarly demonstrate slowed reaction times after rare transitions, suggesting intact knowledge of the task's structure (Decker et al. 2016, Nussenbaum et al. 2020b, Potter et al. 2017). Children also made inferences about the causal source of positive and negative outcomes that were aligned with environmental structure despite not using those inferences to modulate how they learned about the efficacy of their own actions (Cohen et al. 2020). Discrepancies between developmentally invariant reports of task structure and changing decision-making strategies suggest that similar mental models may differentially influence behavior across development.

Further, evidence from adult work suggests that individuals can learn mental models that they flexibly choose whether to use or not use based on the relative costs and benefits of engaging a model-based decision strategy. The cognitive processes that support model-based evaluation are sensitive to speed-accuracy tradeoffs (Keramati et al. 2011) and appear to be modulated by a reliability- and utility-sensitive arbitration process; manipulations that increase the reward value of model-based evaluation or the complexity of the task transition structure respectively increase or decrease the use of a model-based strategy (Kool et al. 2017, Lee et al. 2014b). From childhood to young adulthood, individuals also demonstrate improvements in the flexible arbitration between more model-free and model-based learning strategies based on their relative utility (Bolenz & Eppinger 2020, Smid et al. 2020).

Cognitive control. Model-based evaluations are proposed to arise through a deliberative process of prospectively searching through a mental model of states and potential actions. Consistent with this theoretical proposal, use of model-based evaluation is sensitive to individual differences in cognitive control ability (Otto et al. 2014), working memory (Otto et al. 2013), and information processing speed (Schad 2014). Using mental models to guide learning and decision-making may specifically require proactive cognitive control-or the ability to hold in mind a relevant representation to prepare for an upcoming action (Munakata et al. 2012). Rather than maintaining task-relevant mental representations in working memory, children may rely on reactive cognitive control, in which they instantiate such representations only when needed (Chatham et al. 2009, Munakata et al. 2012). For example, in a task in which participants view sequential stimuli and must make a response to a specific two-stimulus sequence, older children maintain working memory representations of the first target stimulus, whereas younger children retroactively retrieve the preceding stimulus only when they encounter the second target (Chatham et al. 2009, Munakata et al. 2012). In other words, while children may be able to transiently invoke a relevant mental representation when needed, they may not maintain it in working memory in the face of distraction, preventing its flexible and proactive use during decision-making.

Maintaining relevant representations and using them to guide behavior requires gating mechanisms that selectively permit information to enter working memory (Frank et al. 2001) and that selectively permit information maintained in working memory to influence action selection (Chatham et al. 2014). Recent research has revealed pronounced developmental shifts in working memory gating mechanisms. In a task that required the use of complex, hierarchical rules, children, adolescents, and adults all demonstrated similar working memory capacity, but output gating the ability to select relevant information from working memory to guide behavior—showed stark improvements across childhood and adolescence and into young adulthood (Unger et al. 2016). While maintenance of task-relevant representations depends centrally on the PFC (Miller & Cohen 2001), selective output gating may rely on interactions between the PFC and basal ganglia, supported through cortico-striato-thalamic loops (Chatham et al. 2014). Connectivity between cortical and subcortical circuitry changes through adolescence (Casey et al. 2019, Parr et al. 2021), leading to improvements in the cognitive control processes that support the influence of goalrelevant mental representations on decision-making (Crone & Steinbeis 2017, Luna et al. 2015).

Prospective simulation. The use of mental models to guide decisions may also require the ability to prospectively simulate sequences of actions, states, and outcomes. Corroborating the proposed role of prospective simulation in model-based evaluation, in a neuroimaging study that used a version of the two-step task in which states were represented by neurally decodable object categories, model-based choice was associated with neural evidence of simulation of future trajectories at the decision time point (Doll et al. 2015). Prospection undergoes marked change across

childhood and adolescence. Relative to adults, children tend to demonstrate more constrained episodic simulation (Ghetti & Coughlin 2018, Wang et al. 2014), requiring more prompts to generate hypothetical future events they might experience and providing fewer details in their descriptions. Episodic prospection requires the flexible recombination of retrieved episodes into imagined—but possible—futures (Suddendorf & Redshaw 2013). Thus, developmental differences in prospection may arise due to differences in encoding detailed memories, flexibly retrieving and recombining past experiences, or constraining imagined future trajectories to those that are plausible (Ghetti & Coughlin 2018).

In line with adult work (Schacter et al. 2017), across development, the ability to generate detailed, future narratives is tightly coupled to the ability to retrieve details of past experiences, suggesting that common mechanisms underlie episodic memory and prospection (Coughlin et al. 2019). Computations in the hippocampus may support the reinstatement of detailed episodes during both memory retrieval and episodic simulation (Schacter et al. 2017); structural changes in the hippocampus across childhood and adolescence may support increasingly detailed representations during both processes (Callaghan et al. 2020, DeMaster et al. 2014, Lee et al. 2014a). Despite evidence that memory and prospection share common hippocampal mechanisms, children demonstrate more difficulty in constructing hypothetical futures versus recalling the past or creating make-believe narratives, which may reflect the increased demands of constructing imagined futures that are compatible with existing mental models or schemas (Coughlin et al. 2019).

CONCLUSIONS: WHAT'S SPECIAL ABOUT DEVELOPMENT AND WHAT OPEN QUESTIONS REMAIN?

We begin life without extensive knowledge of our environments; over time and with experience, we construct rich and flexible mental models that guide our pursuit of value. The literature featured in this review highlights how, across development, cyclical interactions between learning and memory processes support the acquisition and use of structured knowledge to enable adaptive behavior. We encode experiences, prioritizing valuable information in memory; we transform these prioritized episodes into more integrated and generalizable schemas; and we use these relational knowledge structures to pursue our goals. The choices we make to pursue valued outcomes in turn shape what we experience and what we remember. These learning and memory cycles play out over time, expanding the repertoire of representations used to guide goal-directed behavior across development. Critically, development involves changes in the component processes that compose these reciprocal interactions.

From infancy to adulthood, the learning and memory mechanisms that support the formation of mental models and the cognitive control and prospection processes that enable their use undergo pronounced shifts. Here, we suggest that elucidating the changes in the neurocognitive mechanisms that underpin the development of adaptive learning and memory—and critically, how they interact with and influence one another—is essential to understanding the development of goal-directed behavior. While a growing understanding of the development of adaptive learning and memory is emerging from studies of their component processes, many questions about how these cyclical interactions change across development remain unanswered.

What Is Valued When?

How individuals ascribe value to different types of experiences may change over the course of development. Changes in neurobiology during adolescence are thought to give rise to differential sensitivity to emotional and social inputs from the environment. Accumulating evidence from studies in humans and rodents suggests that adolescents show increased reactivity to emotional,

and in particular to rewarding and social, stimuli (Blakemore & Robbins 2012, Casey et al. 2019, Doremus-Fitzwater & Spear 2016). During childhood, parents can buffer behavioral and brain responses to emotional inputs such that parental presence can regulate children's expressions of emotion (Gee et al. 2014, Hostinar et al. 2015). Although incentives used in experimental tasks are often similarly valued across age (Insel et al. 2017, Paulsen et al. 2015), how developmental changes in sensitivity to social and emotional experiences impact individuals' reward functions and what consequences this might have for learning and memory remain unclear.

Early Explorers

The subjective value of different types of information may also change with age. Across the life span, information-seeking promotes the expansion of mental models of the environment (Kidd & Hayden 2015, Loewenstein 1994). Studies of curiosity and exploration have revealed profound developmental shifts in information-seeking behavior. Relative to adults, children may be more exploratory, often making choices that resolve uncertainty at the expense of those likely to lead to immediate reward (Blanco & Sloutsky 2020, Schulz et al. 2019, Sumner et al. 2019). Children also tend to be less strategic in their information-seeking. While adults seek information that is most likely to be useful in the future (Rich & Gureckis 2018, Wilson et al. 2014a), children's exploration demonstrates less sensitivity to information utility (Somerville et al. 2017). Age-related increases in strategic exploration may lead to the formation of mental representations that have greater utility for a particular task, but children's more random sampling behavior, and more diffuse attention, can promote broader knowledge of their environments (Plebanek & Sloutsky 2017, Raab et al. 2020, Sumner et al. 2019). The acquisition of broad knowledge may be particularly beneficial early in life (Gopnik 2020)-relative to adults, children generally have longer time horizons over which to use information. Thus, an early bias toward more random or exploratory behavior may reflect an adaptive latent learning process through which children acquire knowledge that may be useful weeks or months or years later. To date, however, few empirical studies have tested how information encountered early in life influences the construction of the mental models that guide adaptive choice at later developmental time points.

Mapping (in) the Developing Brain

Research on the neural computations that support rodent spatial navigation has provided a foundation for understanding how cognitive maps are represented in the brain. Hippocampal place cells fire in response to particular spatial locations, whereas grid cells in the entorhinal cortex represent relations between locations (Moser et al. 2008). This relational coding scheme appears to be a general system for representing both spatial information and conceptual knowledge (Behrens et al. 2018, Bottini & Doeller 2020). Beyond the entorhinal cortex, the OFC is also proposed to instantiate a map-like representation of the state space of a task, incorporating unobservable features of the environment (e.g., previous state transitions) into its representational code (Schuck et al. 2016, Wilson et al. 2014b). Rapid sequential reinstantiation of experienced states in the hippocampus, known as replay, is proposed to update and strengthen OFC representations. These subcortical-cortical interactions may support the emergence of map-like representations from the accumulation of individual experiences (Schuck & Niv 2019).

Across development, hippocampal-prefrontal connectivity undergoes protracted structural and functional change (Murty et al. 2016), which may alter the processes through which memories for single episodes are transformed into abstract relational knowledge. While a few studies in adults have developed innovative methods for quantifying and decoding the content of temporally compressed replay events (Eldar et al. 2020, Schuck & Niv 2019), no studies to date have examined developmental changes in replay in humans. One study in young rodents found that while the number of replay events was consistent across age, the content of these events changed. With increasing age, replay events shifted from reactivating single previously visited locations to longer spatially extended trajectories (Muessig et al. 2019). However, whether such developmental changes in memory replay occur in humans and how these changes might influence the formation and use of map-like representations are unknown. More broadly, whether the map-like representations observed in both the hippocampus and the OFC serve different functions during goal-directed behavior is not well understood. Future studies should examine whether developmental differences in subcortical versus cortical representations relate to age-related dissociations between the learning of structured knowledge and its use to guide action.

The Power of Sleep

Sleep may play a key role in the transformation of learned regularities to explicit mental models that can be used to guide decisions. In one study, children demonstrated implicit learning of a motor sequence after training (Wilhelm et al. 2013). Explicitly, however, they could report only about half of the transitions within the trained sequence. Notably, after sleep, children's explicit knowledge improved such that not only could they report almost all the transitions but also their explicit performance surpassed that of adults. During sleep, memories of prior experiences and their reward associations are reactivated and consolidated (Paller & Voss 2004, Wilson & McNaughton 1994), leading to enhancements in relational memory and inference (Ellenbogen et al. 2007). Sleep may play a particularly important role in memory consolidation early in development—children sleep more than adults (Ohavon et al. 2004) and similarly demonstrate enhancements in learning and memory following both naps and nighttime sleep (Gómez & Edgin 2015, Johnson et al. 2018, Kurdziel et al. 2018). As in adults, sleep-related memory enhancements in young children may arise from reactivation of hippocampal patterns associated with prior experiences (Johnson et al. 2018). Thus, sleep may play a crucial role in facilitating the memory transformations that underlie cognitive map formation. However, whether there are developmental changes in memory reactivation, or sequential replay, during sleep, and how these changes may influence the formation and use of map-like representations, have received little attention. For example, previous developmental studies of model-based decision-making have required participants to learn task structures within a single day; future research could harness multiday designs to more directly examine the role of sleep in the formation and use of mental models.

Developmental Change as Continuous Adaptation

Throughout this review, we have emphasized how the formation and use of mental models guides goal-directed behavior. One outstanding question, however, is what happens when we form models that do not accurately reflect the structure of our environments? Research in adults suggests that incorrect beliefs about environmental structure can have negative consequences. For example, believing that a changing environment is static (Sumner et al. 2019) or that one's actions are ineffective in an environment that is actually controllable (Raab et al. 2020) can lead to missed opportunities to discover and exploit new sources of reward.

It is adaptive to use mental models when they are accurate, but the construction of accurate mental models often requires gradual accumulation of experience over time. Thus, relying on structured knowledge to a lesser degree early in development—when it may be more prone to inaccuracies—may be adaptive. Less selectivity in attention, working memory, and episodic encoding may enable children to process information unconstrained by prior expectations, enabling

more accurate and flexible inferences about environmental structure. Moreover, the protracted development of the component processes that support the use of structured mental representations to guide behavior may prevent the premature harnessing of incorrect beliefs. Thus, rather than promoting the emergence of adaptive cognition, developmental change in learning and memory processes may be continually adaptive in light of changing goals and environmental demands.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Preparation of this review was supported by grants from the National Science Foundation (CA-REER Grant 1654393 to C.A.H.; SBE Postdoctoral Research Fellowship Grant 1714321 to A.O.C.), National Institute of Mental Health (R01MH16183 to C.A.H.), Jacobs Foundation (Early Career Fellowship to C.A.H.), and Department of Defense (NDSEG Fellowship to K.N.). We thank Oded Bein for helpful comments on the manuscript.

LITERATURE CITED

- Ackermann L, Hepach R, Mani N. 2020. Children learn words easier when they are interested in the category to which the word belongs. Dev. Sci. 23(3):e12915
- Adcock RA, Thangavel A, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Knutson B, Gabrieli JDE. 2006. Reward-motivated learning: Mesolimbic activation precedes memory formation. *Neuron* 50(3):507–17
- Amso D, Davidow J. 2012. The development of implicit learning from infancy to adulthood: item frequencies, relations, and cognitive flexibility. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 54(6):664–73
- Anderson JR, Schooler LJ. 1991. Reflections of the environment in memory. Psychol. Sci. 2(6):396-408
- Anderson JR, Schooler LJ. 2000. The adaptive nature of memory. In *The Oxford Handbook of Memory*, ed. E Tulving, FIM Craik, pp. 557–70. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Balleine BW, O'Doherty JP. 2009. Human and rodent homologies in action control: corticostriatal determinants of goal-directed and habitual action. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35(1):48–69
- Bartra O, McGuire JT, Kable JW. 2013. The valuation system: a coordinate-based meta-analysis of BOLD fMRI experiments examining neural correlates of subjective value. *Neuroimage* 76:412–27
- Behrens TEJ, Muller TH, Whittington JCR, Mark S, Baram AB, et al. 2018. What is a cognitive map? Organizing knowledge for flexible behavior. *Neuron* 100(2):490–509
- Biderman N, Bakkour A, Shohamy D. 2020. What are memories for? The hippocampus bridges past experience with future decisions. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 24(7):542–56
- Blakemore S-J, Robbins TW. 2012. Decision-making in the adolescent brain. Nat. Neurosci. 15(9):1184-91
- Blanco NJ, Sloutsky VM. 2020. Systematic exploration and uncertainty dominate young children's choices. Dev. Sci. 24(2):e13026
- Blumenfeld RS, Ranganath C. 2007. Prefrontal cortex and long-term memory encoding: an integrative review of findings from neuropsychology and neuroimaging. *Neuroscientist* 13(3):280–91
- Bolenz F, Eppinger B. 2020. Valence bias in metacontrol of decision making in adolescents and young adults. PsyArXiv 5u9jq. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/5u9jq
- Bolenz F, Reiter AMF, Eppinger B. 2017. Developmental changes in learning: computational mechanisms and social influences. *Front. Psychol.* 8:2048
- Bornstein AM, Khaw MW, Shohamy D, Daw ND. 2017. Reminders of past choices bias decisions for reward in humans. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15958
- Bottini R, Doeller CF. 2020. Knowledge across reference frames: cognitive maps and image spaces. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 24(8):606–19
- Bransford JD, Johnson MK. 1972. Contextual prerequisites for understanding: some investigations of comprehension and recall. J. Verbal Learn. Verbal Bebav. 11:717–26

- Brod G, Lindenberger U, Shing YL. 2017. Neural activation patterns during retrieval of schema-related memories: differences and commonalities between children and adults. Dev. Sci. 20(6):e12475
- Brod G, Shing YL. 2019. A boon and a bane: comparing the effects of prior knowledge on memory across the lifespan. Dev. Psychol. 55(6):1326–37
- Brod G, Werkle-Bergner M, Shing YL. 2013. The influence of prior knowledge on memory: a developmental cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 7:139
- Cabeza R, Ciaramelli E, Olson IR, Moscovitch M. 2008. The parietal cortex and episodic memory: an attentional account. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9(8):613–25
- Calabro FJ, Murty VP, Jalbrzikowski M, Tervo-Clemmens B, Luna B. 2019. Development of hippocampalprefrontal cortex interactions through adolescence. *Cereb. Cortex* 30(3):1548–58
- Callaghan B, Gasser C, Silvers J, Van Tieghem M, Choy T, et al. 2020. Age-related increases in posterior hippocampal granularity are associated with remote detailed episodic memory in development. *J. Neurosci.* 41(8):1738–54
- Cardinal RN, Parkinson JA, Hall J, Everitt BJ. 2002. Emotion and motivation: the role of the amygdala, ventral striatum, and prefrontal cortex. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 26(3):321–52

Casey BJ, Heller AS, Gee DG, Cohen AO. 2019. Development of the emotional brain. Neurosci. Lett. 693:29-34

- Castel AD, Humphreys KL, Lee SS, Galván A, Balota DA, McCabe DP. 2011. The development of memory efficiency and value-directed remembering across the life span: a cross-sectional study of memory and selectivity. *Dev. Psychol.* 47(6):1553–64
- Chatham CH, Frank MJ, Badre D. 2014. Corticostriatal output gating during selection from working memory. *Neuron* 81(4):930–42
- Chatham CH, Frank MJ, Munakata Y. 2009. Pupillometric and behavioral markers of a developmental shift in the temporal dynamics of cognitive control. PNAS 106(14):5529–33
- Cohen AO, Matese NG, Filimontseva A, Shen X, Shi TC, et al. 2019. Aversive learning strengthens episodic memory in both adolescents and adults. *Learn. Mem.* 26(7):272–79
- Cohen AO, Nussenbaum K, Dorfman HM, Gershman SJ, Hartley CA. 2020. The rational use of causal inference to guide reinforcement learning strengthens with age. NPJ Sci. Learn. 5:16
- Cohen NJ, Squire LR. 1980. Preserved learning and retention of pattern-analyzing skill in amnesia: dissociation of knowing how and knowing that. *Science* 210(4466):207–10
- Cole MW, Laurent P, Stocco A. 2013. Rapid instructed task learning: a new window into the human brain's unique capacity for flexible cognitive control. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci* 13(1):1–22
- Collins AGE. 2018. Learning structures through reinforcement. In Goal-Directed Decision Making: Computations and Neural Circuits, ed. R Morris, A Bornstein, A Shenav, pp. 105–23. San Diego, CA: Academic
- Coughlin C, Robins RW, Ghetti S. 2019. Development of episodic prospection: factors underlying improvements in middle and late childhood. *Child Dev.* 90(4):1109–22
- Craik FIM, Tulving E. 1975. Depth of processing and the retention of words in episodic memory. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 104(3):268–94
- Crone EA, Steinbeis N. 2017. Neural perspectives on cognitive control development during childhood and adolescence. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 21(3):205–15
- Davachi L. 2006. Item, context and relational episodic encoding in humans. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 16(6):693–700
- Davidow JY, Foerde K, Galván A, Shohamy D. 2016. An upside to reward sensitivity: The hippocampus supports enhanced reinforcement learning in adolescence. *Neuron* 92(1):93–99
- Daw ND, Gershman SJ, Seymour B, Dayan P, Dolan RJ. 2011. Model-based influences on humans' choices and striatal prediction errors. *Neuron* 69(6):1204–15
- Daw ND, O'Doherty JP. 2014. Multiple systems for value learning. In Neuroeconomics: Decision Making and the Brain, ed. PW Glimcher, E Fehr, pp. 393–410. London: Academic. 2nd ed.
- Decker JH, Lourenco FS, Doll BB, Hartley CA. 2015. Experiential reward learning outweighs instruction prior to adulthood. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 15(2):310–20
- Decker JH, Otto AR, Daw ND, Hartley CA. 2016. From creatures of habit to goal-directed learners: tracking the developmental emergence of model-based reinforcement learning. *Psychol. Sci.* 27(6):848–58

DeMaster D, Pathman T, Lee JK, Ghetti S. 2014. Structural development of the hippocampus and episodic memory: developmental differences along the anterior/posterior axis. Cereb. Cortex 24(11):3036–45

- Deserno L, Huys QJM, Boehme R, Buchert R, Heinze H-J, et al. 2015. Ventral striatal dopamine reflects behavioral and neural signatures of model-based control during sequential decision making. *PNAS* 112(5):1595–600
- Diamond A. 1985. Development of the ability to use recall to guide action, as indicated by infants' performance on A*Ā*. Child Dev. 56(4):868–83
- Dickinson A. 1985. Actions and habits: the development of behavioural autonomy. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 308(1135):67-78
- Dienes Z, Perner J. 1999. A theory of implicit and explicit knowledge. Behav. Brain Sci. 22(5):735-808
- Doll BB, Duncan KD, Simon DA, Shohamy D, Daw ND. 2015. Model-based choices involve prospective neural activity. Nat. Neurosci. 18(5):767–72
- Doremus-Fitzwater TL, Spear LP. 2016. Reward-centricity and attenuated aversions: an adolescent phenotype emerging from studies in laboratory animals. *Neurosci. Biobebav. Rev.* 70:121–34
- Dorfman HM, Bhui R, Hughes BL, Gershman SJ. 2019. Causal inference about good and bad outcomes. Psychol. Sci. 30(4):516–25
- DuBrow S, Eberts EA, Murty VP. 2019. A common mechanism underlying choice's influence on preference and memory. *Psychon. Bull. Rev.* 26(6):1958–66
- Eichenbaum H, Yonelinas AP, Ranganath C. 2007. The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 30:123–52
- Eldar E, Lièvre G, Dayan P, Dolan RJ. 2020. The roles of online and offline replay in planning. eLife 9:e56911
- Ellenbogen JM, Hu PT, Payne JD, Titone D, Walker MP. 2007. Human relational memory requires time and sleep. *PNAS* 104(18):7723–28
- Ellis CT, Skalaban LJ, Yates TS, Bejjanki VR, Córdova NI, Turk-Browne NB. 2021. Evidence of hippocampal learning in human infants. Curr. Biol. 31(15):3358–64.e4
- Fandakova Y, Gruber MJ. 2021. States of curiosity and interest enhance memory differently in adolescents and in children. *Dev. Sci.* 24(1):e13005
- Fandakova Y, Selmeczy D, Leckey S, Grimm KJ, Wendelken C, et al. 2017. Changes in ventromedial prefrontal and insular cortex support the development of metamemory from childhood into adolescence. PNAS 114(29):7582–87
- Feldman A, Acredolo L. 1979. The effect of active versus passive exploration on memory for spatial location in children. *Child Dev.* 50(3):698–704
- Finn AS, Kalra PB, Goetz C, Leonard JA, Sheridan MA, Gabrieli JDE. 2016. Developmental dissociation between the maturation of procedural memory and declarative memory. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* 142:212– 20
- Finn AS, Kharitonova M, Holtby N, Sheridan MA. 2019. Prefrontal and hippocampal structure predict statistical learning ability in early childhood. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 31(1):126–37
- Frank MC, Slemmer JA, Marcus GF, Johnson SP. 2009. Information from multiple modalities helps 5-montholds learn abstract rules. Dev. Sci. 12(4):504–9
- Frank MJ, Loughry B, O'Reilly RC. 2001. Interactions between frontal cortex and basal ganglia in working memory: a computational model. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 1(2):137–60
- Galván A. 2013. The teenage brain: sensitivity to rewards. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 22(2):88-93
- Gee DG, Gabard-Durnam L, Telzer EH, Humphreys KL, Goff B, et al. 2014. Maternal buffering of human amygdala-prefrontal circuitry during childhood but not during adolescence. *Psychol. Sci.* 25(11):2067–78
- Gershman SJ, Daw ND. 2017. Reinforcement learning and episodic memory in humans and animals: an integrative framework. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 68:101–28
- Ghatala ES, Carbonari JP, Wylie HL. 1980. Attribute structure and incidental memory for words: test of a developmental hypothesis. *Child Dev.* 51:685–90
- Ghetti S, Coughlin C. 2018. Stuck in the present? Constraints on children's episodic prospection. Trends Cogn. Sci. 22(10):846–50
- Ghetti S, Fandakova Y. 2020. Neural development of memory and metamemory in childhood and adolescence: toward an integrative model of the development of episodic recollection. *Annu. Rev. Dev. Psychol.* 2:365– 88
- Gilboa A, Marlatte H. 2017. Neurobiology of schemas and schema-mediated memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 21(8):618-31

- Glenn CR, Klein DN, Lissek S, Britton JC, Pine DS, Hajcak G. 2012. The development of fear learning and generalization in 8–13 year-olds. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 54(7):675–84
- Glimcher PW. 2011. Understanding dopamine and reinforcement learning: the dopamine reward prediction error hypothesis. PNAS 108(Suppl. 3):15647–54
- Gogtay N, Giedd JN, Lusk L, Hayashi KM, Greenstein D, et al. 2004. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. PNAS 101(21):8174–79
- Gogtay N, Nugent TF 3rd, Herman DH, Ordonez A, Greenstein D, et al. 2006. Dynamic mapping of normal human hippocampal development. *Hippocampus* 16(8):664–72
- Goldin-Meadow S, Alibali MW, Church RB. 1993. Transitions in concept acquisition: using the hand to read the mind. *Psychol. Rev.* 100(2):279–97
- Gómez RL, Edgin JO. 2015. Sleep as a window into early neural development: shifts in sleep-dependent learning effects across early childhood. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 9(3):183–89
- Gopnik A. 2020. Childhood as a solution to explore-exploit tensions. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 375(1803): 20190502
- Gruber MJ, Gelman BD, Ranganath C. 2014. States of curiosity modulate hippocampus-dependent learning via the dopaminergic circuit. *Neuron* 84(2):486–96
- Gureckis TM, Markant DB. 2012. Self-directed learning: a cognitive and computational perspective. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 7(5):464–81
- Haber SN, Knutson B. 2009. The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. Neuropsychopharmacology 35(1):4–26
- Hanten G, Li X, Chapman SB, Swank P, Gamino J, et al. 2007. Development of verbal selective learning. Dev. Neuropsychol. 32(1):585–96
- Harlow HF. 1949. The formation of learning sets. Psychol. Rev. 56(1):51-65
- Hartley CA, Lee FS. 2015. Sensitive periods in affective development: nonlinear maturation of fear learning Neuropsychopharmacology 40(1):50–60
- Hostinar CE, Johnson AE, Gunnar MR. 2015. Parent support is less effective in buffering cortisol stress reactivity for adolescents compared to children. *Dev. Sci.* 18(2):281–97
- Hunsaker MR, Kesner RP. 2013. The operation of pattern separation and pattern completion processes associated with different attributes or domains of memory. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37(1):36–58
- Insel C, Kastman EK, Glenn CR, Somerville LH. 2017. Development of corticostriatal connectivity constrains goal-directed behavior during adolescence. Nat. Commun. 8(1):1605
- Jacobs JE, Klaczynski PA. 2002. The development of judgment and decision making during childhood and adolescence. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 11(4):145–49
- Jang AI, Nassar MR, Dillon DG, Frank MJ. 2019. Positive reward prediction errors during decision-making strengthen memory encoding. Nat. Hum. Behav. 3(7):719–32
- Johnson EG, Nordahl CW, Ghetti S. 2018. Memory-related hippocampal activation in the sleeping toddler. PNAS 115(25):6500–5
- Karmiloff-Smith A. 1992. Beyond Modularity: A Developmental Perspective on Cognitive Science. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Karuza EA, Newport EL, Aslin RN, Starling SJ, Tivarus ME, Bavelier D. 2013. The neural correlates of statistical learning in a word segmentation task: an fMRI study. *Brain Lang.* 127(1):46–54
- Katzman PL, Hartley CA. 2020. The value of choice facilitates subsequent memory across development. *Cognition* 199:104239
- Keramati M, Dezfouli A, Piray P. 2011. Speed/accuracy trade-off between the habitual and the goal-directed processes. PLOS Comput. Biol. 7(5):e1002055
- Keresztes A, Bender AR, Bodammer NC, Lindenberger U, Shing YL, Werkle-Bergner M. 2017. Hippocampal maturity promotes memory distinctiveness in childhood and adolescence. PNAS 114(34):9212–17
- Keresztes A, Ngo CT, Lindenberger U, Werkle-Bergner M, Newcombe NS. 2018. Hippocampal maturation drives memory from generalization to specificity. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 22(8):676–86
- Kidd C, Hayden BY. 2015. The psychology and neuroscience of curiosity. Neuron 88(3):449-60
- Kirkham NZ, Slemmer JA, Johnson SP. 2002. Visual statistical learning in infancy: evidence for a domain general learning mechanism. *Cognition* 83(2):B35–42

- Klossek UMH, Russell J, Dickinson A. 2008. The control of instrumental action following outcome devaluation in young children aged between 1 and 4 years. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 137(1):39–51
- Knowlton BJ, Squire LR. 1993. The learning of categories: parallel brain systems for item memory and category knowledge. Science 262(5140):1747–49
- Kool W, Gershman SJ, Cushman FA. 2017. Cost-benefit arbitration between multiple reinforcement-learning systems. Psychol. Sci. 28(9):1321–33
- Kurdziel LBF, Kent J, Spencer RMC. 2018. Sleep-dependent enhancement of emotional memory in early childhood. Sci. Rep. 8(1):12609
- Kushnir T, Gopnik A. 2005. Young children infer causal strength from probabilities and interventions. Psychol. Sci. 16(9):678–83
- LeDoux J, Daw ND. 2018. Surviving threats: neural circuit and computational implications of a new taxonomy of defensive behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 19(5):269–82
- Lee JK, Ekstrom AD, Ghetti S. 2014a. Volume of hippocampal subfields and episodic memory in childhood and adolescence. *Neuroimage* 94:162–71
- Lee SW, Shimojo S, O'Doherty JP. 2014b. Neural computations underlying arbitration between model-based and model-free learning. *Neuron* 81(3):687–99
- Lengyel M, Dayan P. 2008. Hippocampal contributions to control: the third way. In Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, pp. 889–96. Red Hook, NY: Curran Assoc.

Leotti LA, Delgado MR. 2011. The inherent reward of choice. Psychol. Sci. 22(10):1310-18

- Lisman JE, Grace AA. 2005. The hippocampal-VTA loop: controlling the entry of information into long-term memory. Neuron 46(5):703–13
- Loewenstein G. 1994. The psychology of curiosity: a review and reinterpretation. Psychol. Bull. 116(1):75-98
- Luna B, Marek S, Larsen B, Tervo-Clemmens B, Chahal R. 2015. An integrative model of the maturation of cognitive control. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 38:151–70
- Mack ML, Love BC, Preston AR. 2018. Building concepts one episode at a time: the hippocampus and concept formation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 680:31–38
- Maril A, Avital R, Reggev N, Zuckerman M, Sadeh T, et al. 2011. Event congruency and episodic encoding: a developmental fMRI study. *Neuropsychologia* 49(11):3036–45
- McClelland JL, McNaughton BL, O'Reilly RC. 1995. Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychol. Rev.* 102(3):419–57
- McComas J, Dulberg C, Latter J. 1997. Children's memory for locations visited: importance of movement and choice. J. Mot. Behav. 29(3):223–29
- McGaugh JL, Cahill L, Roozendaal B. 1996. Involvement of the amygdala in memory storage: interaction with other brain systems. *PNAS* 93(24):13508–14
- McNealy K, Mazziotta JC, Dapretto M. 2010. The neural basis of speech parsing in children and adults. Dev. Sci. 13(2):385–406
- Metcalfe J. 2017. Learning from errors. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 68:465-89
- Meulemans T, Van der Linden M, Perruchet P. 1998. Implicit sequence learning in children. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 69(3):199–221
- Miller EK, Cohen JD. 2001. An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24:167– 202
- Mills KL, Goddings A-L, Herting MM, Meuwese R, Blakemore S-J, et al. 2016. Structural brain development between childhood and adulthood: convergence across four longitudinal samples. *Neuroimage* 141:273– 81
- Mishkin M, Malamut B, Bachevalier J. 1984. Memories and habits: two neural systems. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 1984:65–77
- Moser EI, Kropff E, Moser M-B. 2008. Place cells, grid cells, and the brain's spatial representation system. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 31:69–89
- Muessig L, Lasek M, Varsavsky I, Cacucci F, Wills TJ. 2019. Coordinated emergence of hippocampal replay and theta sequences during post-natal development. Curr. Biol. 29(5):834–40.e4
- Munakata Y. 2001. Graded representations in behavioral dissociations. Trends Cogn. Sci. 5(7):309-15

- Munakata Y, Snyder HR, Chatham CH. 2012. Developing cognitive control: three key transitions. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 21(2):71–77
- Murty VP, Calabro F, Luna B. 2016. The role of experience in adolescent cognitive development: integration of executive, memory, and mesolimbic systems. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 70:46–58
- Murty VP, DuBrow S, Davachi L. 2015. The simple act of choosing influences declarative memory. J. Neurosci. 35(16):6255–64
- Nadel L, Samsonovich A, Ryan L, Moscovitch M. 2000. Multiple trace theory of human memory: computational, neuroimaging, and neuropsychological results. *Hippocampus* 10(4):352–68
- Ngo CT, Lin Y, Newcombe NS, Olson IR. 2019a. Building up and wearing down episodic memory: mnemonic discrimination and relational binding. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 148(9):1463–79
- Ngo CT, Newcombe NS, Olson IR. 2018. The ontogeny of relational memory and pattern separation. *Dev. Sci.* 21(2):e12556
- Ngo CT, Newcombe NS, Olson IR. 2019b. Gain-loss framing enhances mnemonic discrimination in preschoolers. *Child Dev.* 90(5):1569–78
- Nussenbaum K, Hartley CA. 2019. Reinforcement learning across development: What insights can we draw from a decade of research? *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 40:100733
- Nussenbaum K, Hartley CA. 2021. Developmental change in prefrontal cortex recruitment supports the emergence of value-guided memory. bioRxiv 2021.02.13.431073. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.13. 431073
- Nussenbaum K, Prentis E, Hartley CA. 2020a. Memory's reflection of learned information value increases across development. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 149(10):1919–34
- Nussenbaum K, Scheuplein M, Phaneuf C, Evans M, Hartley CA. 2020b. Moving developmental research online: comparing in-lab and web-based studies of model-based reinforcement learning. *Collabra* 6(1):17213
- O'Connell G, Myers CE, Hopkins RO, McLaren RP, Gluck MA, Wills AJ. 2016. Amnesic patients show superior generalization in category learning. *Neuropsychology* 30(8):915–19
- Ofen N. 2012. The development of neural correlates for memory formation. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 36(7):1708–17
- Ohayon MM, Carskadon MA, Guilleminault C, Vitiello MV. 2004. Meta-analysis of quantitative sleep parameters from childhood to old age in healthy individuals: developing normative sleep values across the human lifespan. Sleep 27(7):1255–73
- Otto AR, Raio CM, Chiang A, Phelps EA, Daw ND. 2013. Working-memory capacity protects model-based learning from stress. PNAS 110(52):20941–46
- Otto AR, Skatova A, Madlon-Kay S, Daw ND. 2014. Cognitive control predicts use of model-based reinforcement learning. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 27(2):319–33
- Paller KA, Voss JL. 2004. Memory reactivation and consolidation during sleep. Learn. Mem. 11(6):664-70
- Palminteri S, Kilford EJ, Coricelli G, Blakemore S-J. 2016. The computational development of reinforcement learning during adolescence. PLOS Comput. Biol. 12(6):e1004953
- Parr AC, Calabro F, Larsen B, Tervo-Clemmens B, Elliot S, et al. 2021. Dopamine-related striatal neurophysiology is associated with specialization of frontostriatal reward circuitry through adolescence. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 201:101997
- Paulsen DJ, Hallquist MN, Geier CF, Luna B. 2015. Effects of incentives, age, and behavior on brain activation during inhibitory control: a longitudinal fMRI study. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 11:105–15
- Pine K, Messer D. 2003. The development of representations as children learn about balancing. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 21(2):285–301
- Plebanek DJ, Sloutsky VM. 2017. Costs of selective attention: when children notice what adults miss. Psychol. Sci. 28(6):723–32
- Potter TCS, Bryce NV, Hartley CA. 2017. Cognitive components underpinning the development of modelbased learning. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 25:272–80
- Raab HA, Foord C, Ligneul R, Hartley CA. 2020. Detection of environmental controllability improves across development. PsyArXiv xdt9p. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/xdt9p
- Raab HA, Hartley CA. 2018. The development of goal-directed decision-making. In *Goal-Directed Decision Making: Computations and Neural Circuits*, ed. R Morris, A Bornstein, A Shenav, pp. 279–308. San Diego, CA: Academic

- Annu. Rev. Dev. Psychol. 2021.3:59-85. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by New York University Bobst Library on 12/09/21. For personal use only.
- Ramsaran AI, Schlichting ML, Frankland PW. 2019. The ontogeny of memory persistence and specificity. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 36:100591
- Rangel A, Camerer C, Montague PR. 2008. A framework for studying the neurobiology of value-based decision making. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9(7):545–56
- Rescorla RA. 1988. Pavlovian conditioning: It's not what you think it is. Am. Psychol. 43(3):151-60
- Rich AS, Gureckis TM. 2018. Exploratory choice reflects the future value of information. Decisions 5(3):177-92
 - Richards BA, Xia F, Santoro A, Husse J, Woodin MA, et al. 2014. Patterns across multiple memories are identified over time. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17(7):981–86
 - Riggins T, Geng F, Blankenship SL, Redcay E. 2016. Hippocampal functional connectivity and episodic memory in early childhood. Dev. Cogn. Neurosci. 19:58–69
 - Riggins T, Geng F, Botdorf M, Canada K, Cox L, Hancock GR. 2018. Protracted hippocampal development is associated with age-related improvements in memory during early childhood. *Neuroimage* 174:127–37
 - Rissman J, Wagner AD. 2012. Distributed representations in memory: insights from functional brain imaging. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 63:101–28
 - Rmus M, Ritz H, Hunter LE, Bornstein AM, Shenhav A. 2019. Individual differences in model-based planning are linked to the ability to infer latent structure. bioRxiv 723072. https://doi.org/10.1101/723072
 - Rodriguez Buritica JM, Heekeren HR, van den Bos W. 2019. The computational basis of following advice in adolescents. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 180:39–54
 - Rollins L, Cloude EB. 2018. Development of mnemonic discrimination during childhood. *Learn. Mem.* 25(6):294–97
 - Rosenbaum GM, Grassie H, Hartley CA. 2020. Valence biases in reinforcement learning shift across adolescence and modulate subsequent memory. PsyArXiv n3vsr. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/n3vsr
 - Rosenbaum GM, Hartley CA. 2019. Developmental perspectives on risky and impulsive choice. *Philos. Trans.* R. Soc. B 374(1766):20180133
 - Rouhani N, Niv Y. 2021. Signed and unsigned reward prediction errors dynamically enhance learning and memory. *eLife* 10:e61077
 - Ruggeri A, Markant DB, Gureckis TM, Bretzke M, Xu F. 2019. Memory enhancements from active control of learning emerge across development. *Cognition* 186:82–94
 - Ryan RM, Deci EL. 2000. Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. Contemp. Educ. Psychol. 25(1):54–67
 - Saffran JR, Aslin RN, Newport EL. 1996. Statistical learning by 8-month-old infants. *Science* 274(5294):1926–28
 - Saffran JR, Kirkham NZ. 2018. Infant statistical learning. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 69:181-203
 - Schacter DL, Benoit RG, Szpunar KK. 2017. Episodic future thinking: mechanisms and functions. Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci. 17:41–50
 - Schad DJ. 2014. Processing speed enhances model-based over model-free reinforcement learning in the presence of high working memory functioning. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1450
 - Schapiro AC, Gregory E, Landau B, McCloskey M, Turk-Browne NB. 2014. The necessity of the medial temporal lobe for statistical learning. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 26(8):1736–47
 - Schapiro AC, Rogers TT, Cordova NI, Turk-Browne NB, Botvinick MM. 2013. Neural representations of events arise from temporal community structure. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16(4):486–92
 - Schiele MA, Reinhard J, Reif A, Domschke K, Romanos M, et al. 2016. Developmental aspects of fear: comparing the acquisition and generalization of conditioned fear in children and adults. *Dev. Psychobiol.* 58(4):471–81
 - Schlichting ML, Guarino KF, Schapiro AC, Turk-Browne NB, Preston AR. 2017. Hippocampal structure predicts statistical learning and associative inference abilities during development. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 29(1):37–51
 - Schneider W, Gruber H, Gold A, Opwis K. 1993. Chess expertise and memory for chess positions in children and adults. J. Exp. Child Psychol. 56(3):328–49
 - Schonberg C, Marcus GF, Johnson SP. 2018. The roles of item repetition and position in infants' abstract rule learning. *Infant Behav. Dev.* 53:64–80
 - Schuck NW, Cai MB, Wilson RC, Niv Y. 2016. Human orbitofrontal cortex represents a cognitive map of state space. *Neuron* 91(6):1402–12

- Schuck NW, Niv Y. 2019. Sequential replay of nonspatial task states in the human hippocampus. Science 364(6447):eaaw5181
- Schultz W, Dayan P, Montague PR. 1997. A neural substrate of prediction and reward. *Science* 275(5306):1593– 99
- Schulz E, Wu CM, Ruggeri A, Meder B. 2019. Searching for rewards like a child means less generalization and more directed exploration. *Psychol. Sci.* 30(11):1561–72
- Shing YL, Werkle-Bergner M, Brehmer Y, Müller V, Li S-C, Lindenberger U. 2010. Episodic memory across the lifespan: the contributions of associative and strategic components. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 34(7):1080–91
- Shohamy D, Adcock RA. 2010. Dopamine and adaptive memory. Trends Cogn. Sci. 14(10):464-72
- Shufaniya A, Arnon I. 2018. Statistical learning is not age-invariant during childhood: Performance improves with age across modality. *Cogn. Sci.* 42(8):3100–15
- Simons JS, Spiers HJ. 2003. Prefrontal and medial temporal lobe interactions in long-term memory. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 4(8):637–48
- Smid CR, Kool W, Hauser TU, Steinbeis N. 2020. Model-based decision-making and its metacontrol in childhood. PsyArXiv ervsb. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/ervsb
- Somerville LH, Sasse SF, Garrad MC, Drysdale AT, Abi Akar N, et al. 2017. Charting the expansion of strategic exploratory behavior during adolescence. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 146(2):155–64
- Sowell ER, Thompson PM, Leonard CM, Welcome SE, Kan E, Toga AW. 2004. Longitudinal mapping of cortical thickness and brain growth in normal children. J. Neurosci. 24(38):8223–31
- Squire LR. 2004. Memory systems of the brain: a brief history and current perspective. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 82(3):171–77
- Squire LR, Dede AJO. 2015. Conscious and unconscious memory systems. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7(3):a021667
- Stangor C, McMillan D. 1992. Memory for expectancy-congruent and expectancy-incongruent information: a review of the social and social developmental literatures. *Psychol. Bull.* 111(1):42–61
- Stanton ME. 2000. Multiple memory systems, development and conditioning. *Behav. Brain Res.* 110(1–2):25–37
- Suddendorf T, Redshaw J. 2013. The development of mental scenario building and episodic foresight. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1296:135–53
- Sumner E, Li AX, Perfors A, Hayes B, Navarro D, Sarnecka BW. 2019. The exploration advantage: Children's instinct to explore allows them to find information that adults miss. PsyArXiv h437v. https://doi.org/ 10.31234/osf.io/h437v
- Sutton RS, Barto AG. 1998. Introduction to Reinforcement Learning, Vol. 135. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Tenenbaum JB, Kemp C, Griffiths TL, Goodman ND. 2011. How to grow a mind: statistics, structure, and abstraction. Science 331(6022):1279–85
- Tolman EC. 1948. Cognitive maps in rats and men. Psychol. Rev. 55(4):189-208
- Tompary A, Zhou W, Davachi L. 2020. Schematic memories develop quickly, but are not expressed unless necessary. Sci. Rep. 10:16968
- Tonegawa S, Morrissey MD, Kitamura T. 2018. The role of engram cells in the systems consolidation of memory. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 19(8):485–98
- Tse D, Langston RF, Kakeyama M, Bethus I, Spooner PA, et al. 2007. Schemas and memory consolidation. Science 316(5821):76–82
- Tulving E, Schacter DL. 1990. Priming and human memory systems. Science 247(4940):301-6
- Unger K, Ackerman L, Chatham CH, Amso D, Badre D. 2016. Working memory gating mechanisms explain developmental change in rule-guided behavior. *Cognition* 155:8–22
- van Kesteren MTR, Ruiter DJ, Fernández G, Henson RN. 2012. How schema and novelty augment memory formation. *Trends Neurosci.* 35(4):211–19
- Wang Q, Capous D, Koh JBK, Hou Y. 2014. Past and future episodic thinking in middle childhood. J. Cogn. Dev. 15(4):625–43
- Werchan DM, Collins AGE, Frank MJ, Amso D. 2016. Role of prefrontal cortex in learning and generalizing hierarchical rules in 8-month-old infants. 7. Neurosci. 36(40):10314–22

- Wilhelm I, Rose M, Imhof KI, Rasch B, Büchel C, Born J. 2013. The sleeping child outplays the adult's capacity to convert implicit into explicit knowledge. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16(4):391–93
- Wilson MA, McNaughton BL. 1994. Reactivation of hippocampal ensemble memories during sleep. Science 265(5172):676–79
- Wilson RC, Geana A, White JM, Ludvig EA, Cohen JD. 2014a. Humans use directed and random exploration to solve the explore–exploit dilemma. *J. Exp. Psychol. Gen.* 143(6):2074–81
- Wilson RC, Takahashi YK, Schoenbaum G, Niv Y. 2014b. Orbitofrontal cortex as a cognitive map of task space. Neuron 81(2):267–79
- Wimmer GE, Shohamy D. 2012. Preference by association: how memory mechanisms in the hippocampus bias decisions. Science 338(6104):270–73
- Winograd T. 1975. Frame representations and the declarative/procedural controversy. In *Representation and Understanding*, ed. DG Bobrow, A Collins, pp. 185–210. San Diego, CA: Morgan Kaufmann
- Yassa MA, Stark CEL. 2011. Pattern separation in the hippocampus. Trends Neurosci. 34(10):515-25
- Yonelinas AP, Ranganath C, Ekstrom AD, Wiltgen BJ. 2019. A contextual binding theory of episodic memory: systems consolidation reconsidered. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 20(6):364–75
- Yonelinas AP, Ritchey M. 2015. The slow forgetting of emotional episodic memories: an emotional binding account. Trends Cogn. Sci. 19(5):259–67
- Younger BA, Cohen LB. 1986. Developmental change in infants' perception of correlations among attributes. *Child Dev.* 57(3):803–15
- Zeithamova D, Bowman CR. 2020. Generalization and the hippocampus: more than one story? *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 175:107317
- Zelazo PD, Frye D, Rapus T. 1996. An age-related dissociation between knowing rules and using them. Cogn. Dev. 11(1):37–63



Annual Review of Developmental Psychology

Volume 3, 2021

Contents

A Conversation with Michael Rutter Michael Rutter and Janet F. Werker
Clinical Staging for Youth Mental Disorders: Progress in Reforming Diagnosis and Clinical Care <i>Patrick D. McGorry and Cristina Mei</i>
Neurodevelopmental Preparedness for Language in the Neonatal Brain <i>Caroline Nallet and Judit Gervain</i>
Interactive Development of Adaptive Learning and Memory Catherine A. Hartley, Kate Nussenbaum, and Alexandra O. Cohen
Achievement Motivation: What We Know and Where We Are Going Allan Wigfield, Katherine Muenks, and Jacquelynne S. Eccles
Personality Assessment of Children and Adolescents Rebecca L. Shiner, Christopher J. Soto, and Filip De Fruyt
Executive Functions in Social Context: Implications for Conceptualizing, Measuring, and Supporting Developmental Trajectories Yuko Munakata and Laura E. Michaelson
Young Children's Interactions with Objects: Play as Practice and Practice as Play Jeffrey J. Lockman and Catherine S. Tamis-LeMonda
Contributions of the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study to Child Development Sarah James, Sara McLanahan, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn
Early Childhood Obesity: A Developmental Perspective Megan H. Pesch and Julie C. Lumeng
Asthma as a Developmental Disorder Fernando D. Martinez

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/devpsych